

















President’'s Message

Change, it has been said, is one of the few inevitables of history.

Today our nation and our localities stand on the verge of steadily
increasing pressures for meaningful re-evaluation of the past, redefinition
of our common principles, and rededication toward the unfinished
tasks of the American experiment.

Projections for the future of Oswego County indicate that there may
be even more striking changes within the County during the next half-
century than have been experienced over the last two hundred years.
The implications of these changes offer tremendous challenge and
opportunity for the Oswego County Historical Society as our organization
seeks to gather, to preserve, to advance, and to disseminate knowledge
about the past that must serve as the basis for the future.

Under circumstances such as these, the Society cannot remain static
in its program and services. There must be a continuing effort to
improve and expand its services to the people of the entire County, to
stimulate an awareness and appreciation of the County’s heritage that
will bring increasing involvement and support, and to provide an accurate
interpretation of the life and resources that have shaped the County.

A most significant forward step, made possible through the increased
support of the Oswego County Board of Legislators, during 1972 was
the recruitment of a professionally trained and experienced full-time
director. Months of diligent and intensive effort on the part of a
recruitment committee consisting of Mrs. Katherine Carter, chairman,
and Miss Dorothy Mott, John C. Birdlebough, Mrs. Frances Breads, and
Charles McC. Snyder led to the appointment of William D. Wallace to
this position by the Board of Managers near the year’s end. Mr. Wallace
brings to Oswego County the expertise and administrative skills that
will insure the effectiveness of the Society’s day-to-day operations and
the co-ordination of other staff and volunteer efforts in areas of
research and library services, collections acquisition and management,
physical preservation of the Richardson-Bates House and its grounds,
interpretive services, community relations, and other activities.

vi



In an effort to further broaden the museum exhibition program in
the Richardson-Bates House and to develop modern means of inter-

" preting through both permanent and short-term displays the history of
the entire County as well as to launch an educational program to serve
schools throughout the County, application was made for a grant to the

- New York State Council on the Arts and by year’s end word was received
that $3,500 would be available from this source to initiate these pro-
jects in fiscal 1973.

The Society’s annual publication, previously known as the Yearbook,
was given a new format and retitled as the Journal to make it a more
readable and fitting vehicle for the presentation of scholarly articles
and information pertaining to Oswego County’s past, an effort of
Mrs. Joan A. Workmaster that has won considerable praise from
members and others.

The physical needs of the Richardson-Bates House—including
refinishing of the exterior front doors, replacement of the main
boiler and other repairs to plumbing and heating systems, replacement
of part of the roof at the rear of the structure, attention to a crumbling
chimney, and replacement of part of a property line fence—represented
positive steps toward preservation of the Society’s historic house.

Efforts begun in 1971 in cooperation with the Oswego City Library
Board to permit restoration of the Gerrit Smith Library, a significant
1855 structure on the National Register of Historic Places, resulted
early in 1972 in the appropriation of a special historic preservation
fund of $15,000 by the Oswego County Board of Legislators to be
channeled through the Society and be combined with other funds
from the city of Oswego, the Enlarged City School District of Oswego,
and the federal government in a $150,000 program.

By the end of 1972 interest and initial organizational steps were
underway toward the observance of various community anniversaries
and the Bicentennial of the American Revolution and the Society was
cooperating with other local groups and individuals in these efforts.
Continued liaison and vital contact with other historical agencies in
twenty-three upstate counties also was maintained through participation
in the activities of the Regional Conference of Historical Agencies and
the Society was represented on the RCHA Board of Trustees by its
president.

Well attended monthly program presentations, the popular holiday
open house, a special reception for retiring officers Charles McC.
Snyder and Johnson Cooper, valuable accessions, a continuation of
essential cataloging and collections management activities, a variety of
research services, the cooperation with museum training classes through
the art department of the State University College at Oswego, and
increased organized group and public visitation at the Richardson-Bates
House were among the other highlights of a most busy 1972.
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audience.”3 The proceeds of the concert were donated to the Oswego
Orphan Asylum. The gentlemen of the city and occasionally the ladies
frequently used amateur performances to raise money for charitable
purposes. On another occasion some of Oswego’s stage struck
gentlemen joined forces, and on December 17, 1857, presented a
program of songs to an “‘overflowing’’ house in Doolittle Hall. The
group, composed of John A. Barry, J. Adams Smith, William Mayer,
Levi Beardsley, and Henry Thornton, were men of good families with
time on their hands and an inclination for the glamor of the stage.
They were delighted when they had the opportunity to serve as extras
and play walk-on parts or small roles with Jordan’s theatre, one of
the popular theatre companies playing Oswego at that time. These
young men, performing in Oswego and the surrounding communities,
were financially successful in their efforts to raise funds. Typical of
their benefits for local charity was the concert held March 9, 1858.
The price of admission was twenty-five cents, and the receipts from the
concert amounted to $297.00, which means that if everyone who
bought a ticket attended at least one thousand one hundred eighty-
eight persons packed Doolittle Hall for the performance. The expenses
incurred were given as $62.11; the rest of the money, $234.89, was
contributed to the Oswego Orphan Asylum.4 The large audiences at
each concert attested to the popularity of the performers. The Oswego
Daily Palladium observed that “home talent is intrinsically superior to
the great bulk of the itinerant performers, who take our quarters and
give us a very flat return.”™

These amateur presentations, and many more which could be cited,
were of a musical rather than a theatrical nature, The first activity
which can be viewed as significant amateur theatre began in 1868. It is
important to recognize that 1868 is considerably earlier than the
date generally assigned to amateur theatricals worthy of consideration.
For example K obbecites April, 1881, as the date for “the first
notable amateur dramatic performance” in New York City. He suggests
that prior to the 1880’s amateur theatricals were not noteworthy
because the performances were given in private as ‘“‘drawing-room
entertainments, gotten up in a happy-go-lucky way for an evening’s
diversion.”® Kenneth Macgowan does not recognize any amateur
stage activity prior to the art theatre movement in the early years of
the twentieth century as significant. He dismisses the amateur acting
societies of the nineteenth century as interested in the drama only as a
social event and as a means for their self aggrandizement.? In a similar
manner Sheldon Cheney advises that ““A clear distinction should be
made between the old-time dramatic-social clubs and the theatres
developed by organizations interested primarily in the art of the
Theatre.”’8

The assumption has been that no amateur activity prior to the
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householders by the Indian word “Chouaguen,’ have become
universally recognized as the leading shade cloth of the market.
Their soft neutral colors, firm, even texture, smooth finish, and
great wearing qualities have made these Hollands more generally
used then any one material ever made for this particular purpose.
These goods are manufactured by the Oswego Shade Cloth Com-
pany, Oswego, N.Y., and come in all colors and in widths of

38, 40, 42, and 45 inches. The production of this concern being
recognized as the standard shade cloth, all shade trimmings, cords,
tassels, fringes, &c., are made to match the Oswego shade cloth
colors. They are sold in all the leading establishments of the
country.11

In 1882 Sloan once again diversified his business interests by
providing the capital for the formation of the Spring Company of
Cliff and Righter. In the beginning, employment was given to only
fifteen or twenty hands; the labor force expanded as the employers
began to find a new market.

Soon after selling the Northwestern Elevator in 1884, Sloan became
president of the Second National Bank, a position he held until his
death in 1904. This bank was located at East First and Bridge Street
and the structure still stands although under another name.

In banking, George Sloan was widely known. He handled the most
difficult banking problems with wonderful ease and intelligence. Sloan
was a member of the State Bankers’ Association and was a familiar
figure at gatherings of financiers. In fact, in 1896 he presented a paper,
entitled “The Uses and Usefulness of Banks: An Address,” to the
annual meeting of the New York State Bankers’ Association held at
Niagara Falls.?2

Sloan’s interests also extended to the community. He was an active
member of the boards of trustees of several prominent corporations
and benevolent institutions. He served for many years as a member
of the Oswego Board of Trade and was also a member of the Oswego
Waterworks Company prior to the acquisition of the water plant by
the city.13

He also held membership on the local board of the Oswego State
Normal School. The citizenry of Oswego were shocked when he sent
his daughter, Helen, to school there—apparently a milestone in the
progress of the school.
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Faculty members were especially grateful to the families of
George B. Sloan and Judge Churchill for their help in breaking
down local prejudice. They accepted the students as their
social equals, and Helen Sloan, a strong-minded, noble girl, had
herself enlisted as one of the students of the school. Her example
was followed by others and, the institution became more respect-
able.14

Also, a trustee of the Oswego Orphan Asylum, Sloan was one of the
several benevolent citizens who, in 1872, incorporated the Home for
the Homeless.!®

As a model citizen of the era, Sloan also had a strong religious
affiliation. He was, for many years, a member, regular attendant, and
leading benefactor of Christ Church. On one occasion he proposed to
carry out the original plan whereby the chancel of the church was
deepened and many other improvements were made at his personal
expense of several thousand dollars.16

Sloan’s business acumen, reputation as a good citizen, and general
popularity led to politics. It was written of Sloan that in politics he
was a Republican of the highest type, loyal always to the principles of
his party and active in promoting its interests and the election of its
candidates.’ 7 In fact, Sloan was a staunch supporter of the Republican
party throughout his long public and business life. He became a
Republican when the party was born in 1852.

During the reconstruction period immediately following the Civil
War Sloan ran for mayor of Oswego but was defeated. It was thought
that his “political defeat . .. was caused by his having been driven by a
negro coachman during his campaign . . . Anti-negro feeling had grown up
because of excesses committed by the newly freed slaves.”8 How-
ever, Sloan overcame this defeat and was elected and considered for
more important offices. In 1860 and 1861 he became alderman of
the third ward of the city of Oswego.

Sloan first went to the New York State Assembly in 1874 for the
ninety-seventh session from January 6 to April 30, during which he
was appointed to the Canals and Insurance Committee. In the Assembly
chamber he held seat number eighty-five, one of three from Oswego
County representing the towns of Oswego, Scriba, Hannibal and the
city of Oswego. While serving in the Assembly, Sloan made his
residence at the Delevan House in Albany where many other members
also resided.19
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To the left of the main entrance is the drawing room. Its focal point
is a large inlaid wood and marble fireplace with a tall and wide mirror
above it. At the west end of the drawing room is the solarium which
was originally heated by its own furnace. During the Sloan’s residence
many plants were grown here during the winter months by a full-time
gardener who was closely supervised by the master of the house.

Behind the drawing room was the sitting room with another
fireplace, which has since been closed up. Also on the main floor, facing
north, was a summer dining room. Panelled in solid cherry, this room
gave the family a perfect view of Lake Ontario during their meals.
Etched in three of the stained glass windows facing the lake are the
initials of the Sloan children. This room was so cold in the winter that
it could not be used.

The central hall ran most of the depth of the first floor to the back
portion of the house. This hallway has since been closed off in order to
create several apartments, work undertaken by the St. Regis Paper
Company in 1946.

The first floor has a second entrance on the east side of the house,
near the large oak tree. Now used for the second apartment, this was
the entrance used by those who visited the house by carriage. Once in
this east entrance, to the left of a short hallway, is a door with glass
panels etched with classical Greek figures. Tile adorns the floor here,
as in the main entrance. The short hallway led into the main library
which, in turn, led to the dining room.

A hand-carved white oak fireplace commands the attention in this
latter room. Carved with the head of Bacchus, the god of wine, in its
center, a lion’s head supports each side of the mantle which is believed
to have been carved by a well-known local carver, Louis Lavonier, Sr.
There was originally a splendid gas-fired chandelier in the center of this
room. The ceiling is of pressed wallpaper with different kinds of fruit
surrounding the chandelier; heavy oak furniture once filled the room.

Off the dining room was the kitchen, ice room, butler’s pantry and
baker’s room, all necessary to the preparation of sumptuous meals.

Bedrooms and the family’s private sitting rooms made up the second
floor and in the attic were quarter’s for the housekeeper. (The Sloans
employed seven servants most of the time and hired extra help when
entertaining). Large storage rooms completed the attic.

In the cellar or basement was a large laundry. Next to a cistern which
provided the water supply was the wine cellar; Sloan was not fond of
hard liquor. In addition, the game room was located in the basement.
Once equipped with a billiard table for the Senator’s sons, the room
has a working fireplace. The cellar also had five rooms which were used for
storage.

In all there were fourteen main rooms and some nine auxiliary
rooms, a total of twenty-three or more rooms. The Sloan family,
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The Black 369th in Oswego (1941)

James J. Cummings™*

Although Oswego in its earlier days had considerable contact with
black folks through its underground railroad, very few blacks have
ever lived in Oswego. Thus, the people of Oswego have been denied the
opportunity to live with and know black people. When Dr. Lapping, of
the S.U.C.O. history department, mentioned that an all black regiment
had been stationed at Fort Ontario in 1941 I thought it would prove
interesting to investigate the story behind the stay of the regiment and
the relationship it had with the Oswego community.

Since this regiment was comprised of 1,800 men it increased the
population of Oswego a great deal percentage-wise, thus causing over-
crowding in areas of entertainment, housing, and eating. Of specific
interest is to see how both groups (soldiers and Oswegonians) handled
their situations. Were there tensions and antagonisms? Did both groups
try particularly hard to have rapport? Was it successful as an experiment
in social integration? Were traditional barriers and myths between blacks
and whites at least partially destroyed? Could the relatively quiet
community of Oswego fulfill the needs of this group of men accustomed
to the cosmopolitanism of Harlem, New York? How were Oswego
residents affected?

To the above questions I have, on the whole, addressed myself
during my research and in this paper.

Because no one, to my knowledge, has written about this subject
before, a great deal of my information was acquired through personal

*Mr. Cummings is a graduate of the State University College at Oswego. While writing
this paper he was a student in the honors program of the S.U.C.O. history department and
contributed this research in a class in urban history.
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